UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
for the Fifth Crcuit

No. 92-2094

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
OSCAR MEDI NA- GUTI ERREZ and FULTON STEVENS, JR.,
Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeals fromthe United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas

(Decenber 23, 1992)
Before KING JOHNSQON, and DUHE, G rcuit Judges.

DUHE, Circuit Judge:

Def endants were convicted for firearns offenses, and appeal
their sentences. Finding no error, we affirm defendant Stevens's
sentence. Because the district court inproperly departed upward
fromthe sentencing gui delines when sentencing GQutierrez, however,
we vacate his sentence and remand for resentencing.

BACKGROUND

In 1990 and 1991 Appellant Stevens repeatedly purchased guns
from Texas pawn shops, intending to resell themto a man naned
Tony, a New York resident who then sold the guns in New York. Each
time he purchased these guns, Stevens was required to conplete
Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearns (ATF) forms. On
these fornms, he fal sely asserted that he was not a convicted fel on,

and that he was the true purchaser of the weapons. In reality,



St evens had been convicted of three burglaries and the Loui siana
of fense of aggravated crine agai nst nature.

In June 1991, Stevens net Appellant Gutierrez who clained to
be Tony's friend. GQutierrez acconpani ed Stevens to pawn shops to
choose the weapons Stevens would purchase for Tony. St evens
purchased 24 guns chosen by CQutierrez, 20 of which were sem -
aut omat i ¢ handguns.

ATF agents arrested Stevens and Gutierrez in July 1991. Both
were indicted for knowi ngly making fal se statenents in connection
with the gun purchases in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 922(a)(6), and
for aiding and abetting in violation of 18 U S.C. 82.! Stevens was

al so indicted for possession of a firearmby a convicted felon in

1 18 U.S.C. § 922(a)(6) states in part:
(a) It shall be unlawful --

(6) for any person in connection with the
acquisition of any firearmor anmunition from

a licensed . . . dealer . . . to nmake any
false or fictitious oral or witten statenent
. intended or likely to deceive :

dealer . . . with respect to any fact mat eri al

to the lawfulness of +the sale or other
di sposition such firearm or ammunition under
the provisions of this chapter.

18 U.S.C. §8 2 states:

(a) Whoever commts an of fense against the United States
or ai des, abets, counsels, commands, induces, or procures
its comm ssion, is punishable as a principle.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if
directly perforned by himor another woul d be an of fense
against the United States, is punishable as a principle.



violation of 18 U S.C. 88 922(g)(1) and 924(e)(1).? Both nen
pl eaded guilty to the crines charged. 1In sentencing Stevens, the
court applied the Arned Career Crimnal Provision, 8§ 4Bl1.4, of the
sentencing guidelines, and sentenced him to 188 nonths
i mpri sonment, supervised rel ease of five years, and a $10, 000 fi ne.
In sentencing QGutierrez, the court departed upward from the
gui del i nes, and sentenced himto 30 nont hs i npri sonnent, supervised
rel eased of three years, and a $25,000 fine. Neither Stevens nor
CQutierrez objected during sentencing, but both now conplain on
appeal, asking this Court to reverse and remand for resentencing.
ANALYSI S
Because Appellants failed to object during sentencing, we

review their sentences for plain error. United States v. Navejar,

2 18 U S.C § 922(g)(1) states:

(g) It shall be unlawful for any person --
(1) who is under indictnent for, or who has
been convicted in any court of, a crine
puni shable by inprisonnent for a term
exceedi ng one year,

to ship or transport any firearm or anmunition in
interstate or foreign comerce.

18 U S.C. §8 924(e)(1) states:

(e)(1) In the case of a person who violates 8§ 922(g) of
this title and has three previous convictions by any
court referred to in 8 922(g)(1) of this title for a
violent felony or a serious drug offense, or both,
commtted on occasions different fromone another, such
person shall be fined not nore than $25,000 and
i nprisoned not |ess than 15 years, and, notw thstandi ng
any other provision of law, the court shall not suspend
t he sentence of or grant a probationary sentence to, such
person with respect to the conviction under 8 922(g), and
such person shall not be eligible for parole with respect
to the sentence i nposed under this subsection.

3



963 F.2d 732, 734 (5th Gr. 1992). "[Plain error] is a mstake so
fundanental that it constitutes a '"mscarriage of justice.'" |d.

(quoting United States v. Lopez, 923 F.2d 47 (5th Cr. 1991), cert.

deni ed, 111 S.Ct. 2032 (1991)).
STEVENS' S SENTENCE

The following path led the court to § 4B1.4 of the sentencing
gui del i nes, under which Stevens was sentenced. Stevens's three
prior burglary convictions and his aggravated cri ne agai nst nature
conviction, when conbined with his quilty plea for shipping
firearms interstate in violation of 18 U S C 8§ 922(9)(1),
activated 18 U.S.C. 8 924(e). Section 924(e) provides:

In the case of a person who violates § 922(9)

of this title and has three previous

convictions by any court referred to in 8§

922(g) (1) of this title for a violent fel ony

. commtted on occasions different from one

anot her, such person shall be fined not nore

t han $25,000 and inprisoned not |ess than 15

years .
In turn, 8 924(e) activated the Arnmed Career Crimnal provision, 8
4B1.4, of the sentencing guidelines,® and the court sentenced
St evens accordingly.

Stevens argues on appeal that the court erred in sentencing
hi m and never should have arrived at § 4Bl. 4. Specifically, he
contends that he does not have three violent felony convictions so

as to activate 8 924(e), and consequently, 8 4B1.4. In support of

3 Section 4Bl1.4(a) provides:

(a) A defendant who is subject to an enhanced sentence
under the provisions of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(e) is an arned
career crimnal.



his contention, Stevens argues that his three burglary convictions
should be treated as one violent felony for sentencing purposes.
Stevens relies upon the commentary to 8 4Al1.2 stating that cases
are considered "related" if they are part of a common plan, or are
consolidated for trial or sentencing. U S S. G 8§ 4Al.2, comment
(n.3) (1990). He argues that because his three burglaries were
commtted within weeks of one anot her as part of a common pl an, and
he was sentenced for all three on the sane day, the three
convictions are therefore "related" and should be treated as one
for sentenci ng purposes.

Stevens's reliance on 8 4Al.2 commentary is entirely
nm spl aced. Stevens was sentenced under 8§ 4Bl1.4, not § 4Al.2
Furthernore, the commentary to 8 4Bl.4 specifically states that
"the tine periods for the counting of prior sentences under § 4Al.2
are not "applicable to the determ nation of whether a defendant is
subject to an enhanced sentence wunder 18 U S . C. 8§ 924(e)."
US SG 8§ 4B1.4, coment (n.1) (1990). Finally, § 924(e)
explicitly applies to defendants who "commtted [three violent

fel onies] on occasions different from one another.” 18 U S C 8§

924(e) (enphasis added). Thus, what matters under 8§ 924(e) is
whether three violent felonies were conmmtted on different
occasions; whether they are considered "related cases" under 8§
4A1.2 is irrelevant.

Stevens conmitted three burglaries on three different

occasions. Therefore, his sentence was properly enhanced under 8§



924(e), and he was properly sentenced under § 4Bl1.4.%
GUTI ERREZ' S SENTENCE

When sentencing CQutierrez, the court found a total offense
|l evel of twelve and a crimnal history category of one, with a
correspondi ng sentenci ng gui deline range of ten to sixteen nonths.
The court departed upward fromthis range for three reasons, and
sentenced CGutierrez to 30 nonths.

First, the court |ooked to sentencing guidelines 8§ 5K2.6,°
permtting upward departure if a weapon or danger ous
instrunmentality was used or possessed during comm ssion of the
crinme. W hold that 8 5K2.6 is an inproper basis for upward
departure in this case.

The transportation of firearns in interstate commerce is,
technically, a crine in which weapons are used, and therefore seens
to warrant a 8 5K2.6 upward departure. Practically speaking,

however, this section nust refer to crinmes that may be conmtted

4 Stevens also argues that his aggravated crine against nature
conviction should not be counted as one of the three violent
fel oni es needed to activate enhanced sentenci ng under 8§ 924(e) and
8§ 4Bl1. 4. Because we find that Stevens's three burglary convictions
suffice as the three violent fel oni es needed, we decline to address
whet her an aggravated crinme against nature is a violent felony for
§ 924(e) and § 4Bl.4 purposes.

> Section 5K2.6 of the sentencing guidelines provides:

If a weapon or dangerous instrunentality was used or
possessed i n the comm ssion of the offense the court may
i ncrease the sentence above the authorized guideline
range. The extent of the increase ordinarily should
depend on t he dangerousness of the weapon, the manner in
which it was used, and the extent to which its use
endanger ed ot hers. The discharge of a firearm m ght
warrant a substantial sentence increase.

6



wth or without the use of a weapon, otherw se, every firearns
sentence woul d requi re upward departure. Allow ng upward departure
for every firearns offense seens contrary to the Sentencing
Commi ssion's intention that courts rarely depart from the
gui del i nes. See, U S . S.G at 1.6 (1990). We therefore find §
5K2.6 an incorrect basis for departing upward in sentencing
GQutierrez and constitutes plain error.

Second, the court determ ned that the sentencing guidelines
did not consider Qutierrez's frequent purchases of weapons,® and
that the repeated nature of his conduct warranted upward departure.
We find no error in this basis for departure.

CQutierrez argues that upward departure on this basis was
i nproper according to the sentencing guidelines introduction.
CQutierrez has msinterpreted the introduction, however, to state
t hat sentenci ng gui delines provi de sentenci ng based upon the total
nunmber of weapons involved, regardless of the nunber of
transactions that took place to acquire the weapons.’ In fact, the
i ntroduction expresses the Sentencing Conm ssion's concern that

prosecutorial discretion over a defendant's indictnent m ght carry

6 Section 5K2.0 allows for departure fromthe applicabl e guideline
range "if the court finds 'that there exists an aggravating or
mtigating circunstance of a kind, or to a degree, not adequately
taken into consideration by the sentencing commission in
formul ati ng the gui delines that such result in a sentence different
fromthat described.'"

" "[T]he guidelines treat a three count indictnent, each count of
whi ch charges sale of 100 grams of heroin or theft of $10,000 the
sane as a single count indictnent charging sale of 300 grans of
heroin or $30, 000." UuS SG Ch.1, Pt.A Intro. comment 4(a)
(1990).



over into his sentencing. |In other words, the Comm ssion sought to
control count manipulation that arises when, for exanple, a
prosecut or charges one defendant with three counts of selling one
gram of heroin, but |ater charges another defendant who commtted
the sanme offense with one count of selling three grans of heroin.
In the commssion's eyes, both defendants should receive equa

sent ences.

In this case, we are not concerned with potential mani pul ation
of repeated counts against Appellant. Rather, we are faced with
repeated conduct by Appellant, and a sentencing court that
concl uded that the dangerous nature of this conduct warranted an
upward departure. The court believed, and we agree, that a
crimnal defendant who has repeatedly engaged in an illega
activity evidences a dangerousness not apparent in a defendant who
has acted illegally only once. The sentencing guidelines allowfor
upward departure in atypical cases,® and we agree with the district
court that this is such a case.

As previously stated, we reviewthe district court's departure
for plain error. W do not find that the court plainly erred by
using the repeated nature of Appellant's conduct as a basis for
departing upward in sentencing.

The <court's third basis for upward departure was its
determ nation that the twenty sem -autonmati c weapons purchased were

mlitary-type weapons, thereby warranting an upward departure under

8U.S.S.G Ch.1, Pt.A Intro. conmrent 4(b) (1990).
8



Application Note 2 of 8§ 2K2.2.° W find no plain error in this
basis for departure.
In reaching its conclusion, the district court considered and

rejected the reasoning in United States v. Schular, 907 F.2d 294

(2nd Gr. 1990). In that case, the Second Crcuit held:

Congress, in enacting various firearm control

laws (and the Sentencing Commssion in

defining their applicable offense |evels),

divided firearnms into two relevant classes,

machi ne guns and all other firearns. . . .

Even upon reconsideration in the 1989

anendnent to the Sentencing Cuidelines, the

Sent enci ng Conmi ssi on adhered to the statutory

classifications and did not specifically

di stingui sh sem -automatic firearns.
Schular, 907 F.2d at 297 (citations omtted).

The Second Circuit went on to hold that sem -aut omati ¢ weapons

did not warrant wupward departure because the only firearns
warranting such departure under 8 2K2.2 Application Note 2 were
those listed by the Conm ssion as exanples in the note: nachine
guns, automatic weapons, and assault rifles. In rejecting the
Second Circuit's reasoning, the district court determ ned that the
mlitary-type weapons listed in the application note were only a
list of exanples; a list that was not exclusive. The court then
concl uded that the twenty sem -automati c weapons were mlitary-type
weapons because the mlitary has i ssued such weapons, specifically
the Colt 45, and 9 MM Berreta. W decline to hold that the court

plainly erred in reaching this concl usion.

° Application Note 2 of 8§ 2K2.2 states in part that "[a] upward
departure especially may be warranted in the case of |arge nunbers
of mlitary type weapons (e.q., nachine guns, automatic weapons,
assault rifles." US S G § 2K2.2, comment (n.2) (1990).
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CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons, Stevens's sentence is AFFI RMVED
CQutierrez's sentence, however, i s VACATED and the case i s REMANDED

for resentencing.
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